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Bucknar‘s Market is one of few original buildings of a
commerclal district which was establiished in the late 19th
century surrounding the water-powered Waterioo Woolen Miil
textile manufacturing complex along the Cayuga and Seneca
Canal. '

gite: This commercial/residential buliding is sited on
Waterloo’s Main Street on a long, harrow 10t. Ag with its
neighboring bulldings, It Iis ealtuated with Ita front
entrance opening to the sidewaik. A small, grassy yvard is
located to the rear of the building, with no yard space -at
efther side of the structure. A concrete aidewalk runs
adjacent to the east facade, ending at a side porch. Two
very large maple trees grow immedliately adjacent to the
east gidewalk. A third large maple is situated near the
northeast corner of the l1ot, A small, wooden garage, with
hipped roof, is liocated at the extreme north of the
property.

The building’s neighbors inciude a diner to the west of a
gseparating driveway and a residential bullding to the east
of a small strip of lawn. Ail lots in this biock are long
and narrow, wlith buildings tightly packed.

Total Structure: The structure consists of a main buliding
(the saloon, located at the southeast) and four separate
additions. FEach wing has a separate roof 1lne, and each
exhibits dlffering architectural, structural, andsor-
materiais components. The roofs of all brick sectlions
Include wooden soffits, boxed eaves, and wooden rain
gutters and spouts <(all In extremely deteriorated
condition, with portions missing.)

Of the five wings, the saloon and the brick residential
wing immediately to 1ts rear (middle section) are the only
gect ions which exhiblt distinctive architectural detalling.
0f the two, the saloon has better structural Integrity, as
1ta roof remalns intact (whereas the roof of the middle
sect lon wing is In very poor condition.
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Saloon: The saloon 18 a two story brick, stone, and
concrete structure in a transitional Greek

Revival/Ital ianate commerclal style, The first floor front
facade Is 20/ 2-1/2" wide and exhibits formal, symmetrlcal
styllng. Four evenly opaced concrete pllasters support an

entablature. The main entry which Is placed between the .
two middie pllasters consists of a double wooden door with

tall, narrow glass panels, A transom spans the width of
the doors. Large four-paned casement windows, wlth molded
panels beneath, span the distance between the middie and
end pllasters. The doorway and windows each measure 4
B8-1/2" wide.

The upper story front facade consists of three

evenly-spaced double-hung sash type windows with heavy

stone lintels and stone sllla. The structure s capped by

a hipped roof with crown molding and wlde boxed eaves, over

a wide, banded frieze.

The east facade of the saloon measures 37/ 7-1/2' and'

Includes two wooden-framed and sllled horizontal casement

windowa with single row, 21-brick header relleving arches,.

set close together near the mid-point of the first story.
A wooden slde entry door, wlth two rows of three glass

panes (the topmost being arched) and lower wooden panels,’
l2 located near the north end of this facade. Upper story
fenestratlon consists of two double-hung sash windows. of
the same type as in the front facade. The west facade. .

contalns only one window, approximately centrally located
¥indow and door surrounds include GQueen’s closers,

The two east facade basement windows are casement type,

with heavy stone llntels of the same type as in the second
story south facade. An lron bar grate Is set In the ground

at the level of the lintel to protect the recessed area . =

between the sidewalk and window.

The 12" thick solld brick walls of the saloon wing are lald:
in English bond, with precise rows of flve stretcher rows 3

per header row.

Unusual features of this wing Inciude two corbléd brick -

chimneys, each 3’ long by 1-1/2’ wlde, which are bullt

within the solid walls at the west facade. The chimneys, . '
thus horizontally placed, appear unobtrusive to the:
exterlor brickwork. In the Interior, the walls have been
bullt up around the chlmneys on the first story, and the. ~
chimneys are visible as &' protrusions only In the second . =

story Interlor walls.
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The interior of this wing ia taken up by the saloon on the
first fioor, and parior (with firepiace), two bedrooms,
haliway, and bath on the second. The placement of the
bathroom In a narrow, long area suggests that this may have
been the original locatlon of a stalrwell prior to the
construction of the second wing. A window, boarded up, s
located In the north wail of this room.

The saloon interior includes a decorative tin ceiling and
an 18’ long bar of black walinut (or stained mahogany}. A
massive 14’ mirrored bar shelf of the same dark wood
reaches to within one inch of the ceiling, and a 10/
servery window/room divider adjoins the south end of the
bar at a right angle. The bar shelf consists of sheives
below, with wooden coiumns topped by lonic capltals which
support an arched cornice with c¢rown moiding. Decorative
paneis, Iniaid with a chevron motif, are above each coiumn.
The sgervery/room divider Includes three sections, with
gtained glass windows In the west upper section. The east
gection contalns an opening the same size as at the east
and probably aiso contalned a stalned glass window. The
gervery/room divider ends at a tapered column with
unadorned capital which supports an abacus which does not
‘reach the celling. The fact that neither the bar shelf
cornice nor the servery/room divider coiumn reach the
ceiling Iindicates that these eiements were possibly not
original to thls room.

The northwest end of this room is partitioned off into a
seall closet and a men’s tollet room with tollet, urinal,
and sink. A gas (or keroscene) heating stove occupies a
niche near the closet partition.

Residentja) Middle Section Wing: This wing, 25/ wide (N-5)
located directly to the north of the saloon, runs 386/
east-west across, with Its east facade [n line with the
saloon’s east facade. The brick is lald in English bond;
however, no particular row pattern appears in the placement
of headers and stretchers, which range from 8 to 7 to 6, In
no regular order (8-7-7-8-6-7-8-6-7-7-7). As this sectlion
(and a rear wing to the northy had been covered by ivy,
considerable damage and deterloration of the brick was
noted after the vegetation was removed for fleld
inspection; (see photo.)

Fenestration on both the east and west facades inciudes
double-hung sash windows with two-row reiieving arches
consisting of 17 headers in the lower row and ii stretchers
in the upper row. Window sills are of stone in the first
floor west facade and of wood In the second floor west, as
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well as In the entire east facade. A3 upper windows on the
west facade conslist of 6-over-6 sash, which appear older
than the single pane windows of the flrat story, it can be

assumed that all wvwindows of thls wing were orlginally of .

the 6-over-6 type.

Relleving arches of basement windows are visible above the
goll llne; however, the windows are no longer exposed.

Wooden panel doors, with relleving arches above, are
located near the southern end of both the east and west
facade of thls wing. The east door contains a single glass
pane In 1t=s upper half, and the west door contalns two rows
of two rectangular glass panes In the upper 2/3 and two. .
wooden panels In the lower i/3. A mechanical door bell is
fltted In the center of the east door. :

A porch with 1ts concrete floor measuring 57 ii* by 227 2*

rung the length of the east facade. The porch 18 topped by
a shed roof. Four sguare tapered posts support the roof,
with decoratlve spandrels In a scroll and pendant pattern. -

A shed roof, with l1ts high edge toward the south, tops thils
wing. This roof 13 In extremely deteriorated condition. -
Conslderable water damage 18 evident In the Interior of -
this wing, the water having rotted away the second story -

floor to the polnt that It s structurally unsound, with

only the floor Joists remaining in most of thls sectlion.
The water has also caused the first floor plaster celling -
to fall In pleces to the floor and this floor to severly
buckle. :

The floor plan of this wing consists of & large room

running the length of the east portion, with door opening . - -« =
to the slde porch. Thls may have been used as a publlic:@ -
room, possibly a dinlng or banquet room, as a long bullt-in = -
sldeboard runs the length of the west wail. At the south

wall, doors lead to the basement stairs, a closet, and a
ladles’ tollet room. Two smaller rooms open from the north

and south ends of the west wall. The southernmost room 13 -
small, rather llke a wlde hallway, and leads to the west

exlt door and to a door whlch opens to the staircase to the
second floor. :

The upper story of thls sectlon appears to have beeﬁ
greatly altered from 1ts original floor plan. From .the
landing at the top of the stalrs, a haliway leads to the

north. Doors In the west wall of the hallway open to: threejﬂf:

very small rooms (leading to the speculatlon that this wln :
may have been used at one tlme as an lnn ) :
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The walls of the rooms at the west appear to be original.
However, the east wall of the hallway conslsts of extremely
make-shift and shoddy partitlons of modern (circa 1960s)
fiber-board paneling, now warped and out of square with the
ceiling. Doors in this east wall also open to three very
asmall rooms. The hallway Itself I8 rather wide and at the
time of fleid ingpection contained an oid (modern) sofa and
end table. The floor of this sectlon is mostly rotted
through and missing, wlth only floor Jjolsts remaining In
the hallway, due to water leakage through the roof.

Market Wing: The 16 2" wide (E-W) by 24 10" long {(N-S
market addition fronts8 the street, to the weat of the
saioon. It is a 1-1/2 story post-and-beam plank structure
with front-facing gable roof. The exterior walls are
c¢lap-board, and “ghost" lines in the palnt under the eaves
suggest that the building once had a decorative bargeboard
of some type. There is a wide overhang at the front gable
but none at the rear.

The south (front) facade 13 symmetrical, with a central
double wooden plank door measuring 3 8-1/2" wide, and a
cdouble~hung sash window on either slde, Windows in the
gecond 1/2 story are smaller, shuttered, and not aligned
over the windows of the first story. The door and ali
windows are wood framed, wlth Jjambs tendoned into mortlsed
slils.

On the west facade, a rectangular patch of mis-matched
¢lap-board indicates the former placement of a window,

The interior of the market consists of a single large room.
A trap door in the ceiling leads to the second 1/2 story.
A small square partitlion, with a square window in its south
wall facing into the room, occupies the northwest corner.

Studding of relatively recent date shores up the plank east
wall of this wing.

Market Morthwest Addltlion: To the rear of the market wing,
a 12’ 3" (N-8) one story wood plank addition links the
market to the middie section brick residential wing. The
west wall of this addition is set 4-1/2" east from
alignment with the west wall of the market, and both
sections lean inward toward each other (out of aliognment
from the vertical.) As the adjacent brick wing inciudes a
boarded-up door in its south facade, it ls evident that the
" middle section brick wing pre-dates thie wooden addition.
- A rectangular patch of mis-matched clap-board indicates the
original piacement of a window in the west facade.
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The Interior of the additlion conslsts of one room, with a
cloget adlacent to the north chimney of the saloon. A
doorway (wlthout door) leads to the hallway at the
northwest corner of the saloon.

: A brick addlition, 247 10" (E-W) by 18’
1-1/2" (N-8), occuple® the north portlon of the structure.
The east facade of this wing 1s alligned with the east wall
of the middle section. Although gimilar 1n style to the
middle brick gection, evidence suggests that this wing was
not bullt at the zame time.

The brick 1s lald In Engllish bond, wlth fewer stretcher
rows between header rows than found at the mlddle section.
However, as in the middle section, there is no dlscernable
pattern to the number of stretcher rows, whlich range from 4
to 5 to 6 In random order (5-4-6-5-6-5-4-4-5-5-5-5)},

Fenestration I8 similar to that found In the middlie
section; however, retalning arches contaln one fewer brick
In thelr header and stretcher rows. All glllis In thlg wlng_
are of wood. - -

The east facade contains two windows in the lower story_;_jf_
with windows placed directly above on the second. A door =~

is centrally placed between the windows on the first story.
The placement of the sescond story windows of the east
facades of the nmiddle and rear wings revealg an attempt to
achieve an aesthetlc appearance through approximation of
classlcal "goliden mean™ proporiions,

The north facade includes two (unevenly spaced) windows In -

the flrst story and none In %the gecond. A window is

centrally located In the west facade flrst and second . -

stories, with a wood panel door near the south end of the
wegt facade first story. Unlike the more formal

fenestration of the east facade, the doorway in the ymst'ffﬁi E=

facade 1s neither classlcally piaced nor 18 the window’s

retaining arch horlzontally In llne with that of the doori_‘,

nor of the windows of the adlacent middle wing.

This wing is topped by a shed roof with 1ts highest polnt

adjacent to and sligntly below the end of the roof of the S

middle wlng

The flrat floor Interlor of thig wing conslsts of a kltchen%i'f

at the east, a long narrow store room- (with shelves) at the
west, a =mall! pantry wlith cabinets at the northeast, and a;
windowless closet between the pantry and storeroom.; :
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During field inspectlion, it was noted that the Iinterior
north walls were wet, indlicating a water problem with walls
and/or roof in this wing; however, the celling appeared to
be Intact. The second floor of this wing was not
accessible ags It can only be reached through the middle
section hallway, the floor of which Is partly miaing and
appears unsafe. Thus, Interlior flcor plan and condition of
walls and celllng of the rear wing second floor were not
determined.

Located In north Waterloo (formerly New Hudson) on East
Main Street, across from the only remaining portion of the
Cayuga and Seneca Canal, Bucknar’s Market derives Iits
historical significance from its setting.

Waterloco, formed In 1816 by the union of twc smaller
villagea, Jefferson (1799) at the south and New Hudson
(1802) at the north, owed itz existence to the presence of
two major transportation systems which passed through the
area.

'The first settlers arrived over the Genessee Eoad, the

first majJor land route in the U.8., constructed in 1791.
Main Street <{currentiy U.S. Route 20), the Village’s
principal thoroughfare, foliows the line of an old Indian
trail, which became part of the 1803-04 Seneca Turnplke, a
major wesward land route connecting the Genessee Road to
the Seneca River, Regiments of soldiers in the War of 1812
passed through New Hudson on the Seneca Turnpike, many
returning later toc sgettle In the village. The name
"Waterloo" commemoratea victory In the war of 1812.

In 1816, Elisha Williams, founder of New Hudson (north
Waterloo), had constructed a mill race off the Seneca Rlver
in the vicinity of the present 300 block of East Main
Street to provide water power for a grist mill. Soon
after, the mill race became part of the Seneca Lock
Navigation Company Canal which connected Seneca and Cayuga
Lakes. After the opening of the Erie Canal, the Cayuga and
Seneca Canal was constructed as a connecting canal from
Montezuma to Geneva. Following the course of the Seneca
Lock Navigatlon Company Canal through Waterloo, the Cayuga
and Seneca Canal was completed in 1828.

Waterloco’s growth and prosperity In the second half of the
19th century was due to the establishment of a number of
water-powered industries along the Seneca River and the

‘Cayuga and Seneca Canal which ran directly south of Main

Street.
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In 1836, Waterloo’s malor Industry, the Waterioo Woolen
Mill, which prodiced woolen shawls and c¢loth untill 1942,
was built along the Cayuga and Seneca Canal at the south
silde of the 300 block of East Main Street, on the site of
Elisha Williams’ early grist miii (aiso the site of the
1795 log cabin of Jabez Gorham, the flrst white settier.)
A water-powered textile industry, the Woolen Mlil provided
the impetus for the growth of a smail lindustrial center in
north Waterloco. :

During the 18408 through the 18708, other Industries
located In north Waterioo to take advantage of  the water
power and canal transportation. A worklng-ciass residential.
gection grew up around the Industrial core, with 1ts own
small commerclail district. Bucknar’s Market and Saloon,
bullt in the 11870‘s, was part of this working-class
nelghborhood. '

The nelghborhood Included several distillerles, a cotton
cloth mitl, four fiour mlils, a paper mill, five malt
houses, =several sawmills, a wheel factory, carrlage
factory, harness factory, plano factory, washboard factory,

tannery, & wrought iron foundry, and a machine shop.

Ag the only extant bullding from Waterloo’s water-powered
industrlal past, the orlginal Woolen Mill structure: stlil
remains, currently part of Evans Chemetlics.

Among the other early industries were three brick potteries
that suppiled the bricks of which most of Waterioo’s
Industrlal!, commercial, and pubilc buildings were

constructed, the eariiest in Federal and Oreek Revival ' .
styles and those of the 1850‘s through 1870”8 era  In-

Itallanate style with iimestone trim (quarried In nearby
Fayette.) Bucknar‘s Market and Saloon dates from the -
latter period and exhlbits Italianate detallling. :

The oniy remalning portion of the Cayuga and Seneca Canal
l1s the Woolen Mill power canal, located along the south
side of the 100 to 300 blocks of East Main  Street.
Bucknar’s Market, at 209-211 East Haln, faces this cana].

Not much 18 known of Waterico’s early archltects and
buillders. Although most structures In the town are In the
vernacular, a number of churches, public bulldings,
commerclal structures, and upper-class residences  were
obviously architect-designed, and several architects had
conducted business in the town; however, no records survlve“{

to tink the bulldings wlth thelr designers.



BUCKNAR’S MARKET
(Walter’s Grill)
HABS No. NY-6328 (Page 9)

The 1lots on which Bucknar‘s Market and Saloon were
constructed were purchased by John T. Bucknar in two
geparate years. The easterly lot, measuring 20 feet along
East Main Street by 99 feet deep, was purchased In
December, 1866, from Joel and Harclet Willson. An 1855 map
of Waterloo indicates the J. Willson property with a small
structure, althougsh records do not Indlcate 1ts wuse,
Sometime between 1866 and 1870, Bucknar erected his first
structure, the 20° x 37-1/2° saloon, with llving quarters
above,

A second parcel, adjacent and to the west, was purchased In
1870. The middle brick section, which extends east-west
acrogss both lots, was constructed sometime between 1870 and
1873, as both the saloon and middle sectlons appear on an
1873 birds-eye-view map.

As the market wing (frame structure at the southwest) does
not appear on the 1873 view map, It can be agsumed that
this section was bullt some time after 1873, but probably
before 1875, as a deed transfer in that vear describes the
property as consisting of saloon, dwelling, and meat
market. The deed transfer of 1875 may have been for tax
purposes, since for the price of one dollar, John T.
Bucknar conveyed the property to William Fillingham, who In
turn the same day conveyed it to Bucknar’s wife Ellen for
the same price.

No records have been located which Indicate a date for the
construction of the rear {(northeast) wing. Appearance
Indlcates that 1t Is a separately-bullt wing and that it is
a late 19th century structure; 1t is similar in style to
the middie brick section.

In 1886, Ellen Bucknar purchased a third property to the
west from Charles J. and Catharine Smith. This property
included a dwelling, which has since been razed, and
currently serves as a parking lot for a nelghborling diner.

John T. Bucknar was a village trustee in 1883, but by 1888
he had dled and his widow and sons ran the business, which
was conveyed to son Charles and hls wife Mary. By 1939,
Charles A. Bucknar had also died, and hls widow sold the
property to Warren S. and Mae S. Walter who ran the saloon
as "Walter’s Grlli .

By 1969, Warren S. Walter had died, and the property was
conveyed by hils widow to their son Claude W. Walter, who
later conveyed it to his wife, Mary Louise Walter, in 1980,
The structures are currently vacant and in discepair.
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KEY TO SPACES:

A = Saloon (35'%1/2" B-§;
17'1-1/2 EW)

B = Bar (18' N-8; 2'4" E-W)

¢ - Room Divider (10" E-H)

D = Bar Shelf (14' N-8)
E - Stove
F = Closet (472" N=8: 4'2" E-U)

G = Men's Tollet Rocm (4'2" N-5;
5'10" E-W)

H = Hallway ( 3'4-1/2" N-§}
72" B

I - Storercom (12'1" N-5;
915-1/2" E-{)

J - Closet (3'6-1/2" N-8; 6'2" E-W)
K - Alcove (5' N-B; 5' E-W)

1, = Market (23'7" K-§; 15'6" E-W)
M - Alcove (4' N-S; 7'7" E-W)

N - Stalrway - down

0 - Closet (not measured)

P = Women's Toilet Room
(3'7 N-8; 7'11" B

Q - Entry Alcove (4' N-5; 4°1" B)
R - Staimway - up (3'7" N-8)

$ - Room (10* N-5; 15'1" E-W)

T - Storeroom (9* ¥=8: 15*1" E-W)

1 - Dining Room (19'8-1/2" R-5;
1810" B-)

V - Kitchen (12'5" N-§; 14'5" E-W)

W = Storeroom (17' ¥-§; 7'11" E-W)

X = Closet (4'5" N-8; 5'4" E-{)

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

Y - Pantry (4'3" N-§; 8'8" E-W)
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BUCKNAR'S MARKET
(Walter's Grill)
HABS No. NY-6328 (Page 18)

KEY TO smis{

A - Front Parlor (18°1" N-5; 12'9" E-H)
B - Bedroom (7°9" 8-5; 12' E-W)

C = Frent Ballway (11'1" N-8; 5'8" E-W)
D - Center Hallsmy (3'1" N-8; 12* E-H)
E = Bertroom (11'3" N-5; 10'6™ E-W)

F - Bathroom (11'2" N-5; 3'6~1/2" E-4W)
G - West Hallway (17'8" N-§; 3'3" E-W)
H - landing (3'7" §-5; 3'3" E-W)

I - Closet (3" H-5; 3'6~1/2" E-W)

J = Stainwil down (3'7" E-W)

K = North Hallway (not measumed)

1, = Bedhroom (not measured) |

M - Bedreom (not measured)

N - Berroom (hot measured)

0 = Bairoom (not measured)

P ~ Betroom (not measured)

Q = Bectroom (not measmred)

R - Back Hallway (not meammer)

§ = Rear section (not measured;
floor plan not known)}

T = Chimney
il = chimney
V = Chirmey with Fireplace

SECOND FLOOR PLAN
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BUCKNAR'S MARKET
{Walter's Griil) _
HABS No. NY-6328 (Page 19)

XEY:

. " Rear Wing
{after 1875)
o

Middie Wing
(ca. 1870-73)

Rear Maricet Addition
{after 1873)

Markat .
(ca. 1873-75)

Saloon
(ca, 18656~1870)

BUTILDING WINGS AND DATES




